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QUESTIONS PRESENTED 

 

1. Whether investors sufficiently pled that a company violated Section 10(b) 

of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 by alleging that the company 

mislead investors through a series of statements detailing its 

environmental commitments, practices, and risks, and whether those 

allegations specify that the company acted with severe recklessness, 

adequately pleading scienter. 

 

2. Whether investors are required to allege that a controlling CEO was a 

culpable participant in a securities violation to satisfy a claim under 

Section 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, despite Congress 

explicitly attaching liability upon any showing of control over a primary 

violator as to ensure controlling individuals cannot evade liability for 

securities violations. 
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Background 

 This case is about a CEO whose distaste for compliance requirements 

and bureaucratic red tape caused an environmental disaster and a devastating 

loss of shareholder value.  

In 1962, James Wilson founded Red River Exploration Company (“Red 

River”). R. 2. He later became the company’s CEO and Board Chairman when 

Red River went public in 1985. R. 2-3. Along with Wilson, Red River is 

managed by Pamela Thompson, chief operating and environmental officer, and 

Sandra Grimes, senior vice president and general counsel. R. 3.  

From the very beginning, Wilson pursued risky strategies that drove Red 

River’s profitability and success. R. 3. Operating as an independent oil 

exploration company, Red River searched for oil in areas that larger companies 

avoided due to their depleted oil reserves and unpromising geological 

characteristics. R. 2. Red River’s tendency to pursue risky strategies continued 

in the 1990’s as it explored the new, highly controversial technology of 

hydraulic fracturing, commonly known as fracking. R. 3. 

B. The Controversial Fracking Process 

Fracking generates environmental concerns related to air pollution, water 

contamination, and destruction of rare species’ habitats. R. 4. The process 

begins by drilling thousands of feet into the earth’s shale rock formation in 

order to create wells. R. 3. Next, the shale rock is fractured by injecting 

millions of gallons of high-pressure fluids and chemicals into the rocks, which 
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in turn releases the desired oil and gas. R. 4. Often, blasting is implemented 

prior to the injection process to make the shale rock more permeable. R. 4. The 

entire process creates millions of gallons of toxic wastewater that must be 

stored in container tanks and treated before being discharged. R. 4.  

C. Environmental Concerns  

Concerned by the risks associated with fracking, Red River’s 

environmental team cautioned against drilling wells through the West Texas 

aquifers. R. 4. Nonetheless, Wilson and Red River disregarded the concerns of 

this specialized team and chose to persist with fracking operations. R. 4. 

In late 2017, Red River received numerous reports from university 

geology departments that low-level seismic activity was occurring in a Red 

River fracking area. R. 5. Red River paid little attention to these reports until a 

second group of reports indicating the presence of low-level seismic activity was 

received in early May 2018. R. 7. By this time, Thompson had learned of 

outside reports indicating that low-level seismic activity was attributable to 

fracking in other parts of the country. R. 7. Despite this, Thompson, Grimes, 

and Wilson decided amongst themselves that the numerous reports from 

geology experts were not worth a “potentially market roiling disclosure.” R. 7. 

Instead, Red River decided to postpone any investigation until July. R. 7. The 

decision to put off any investigation or disclosure persisted even when 

Thompson and Grimes received a third group of reports on May 28, 2018. R. 7.  

In the midst of these reports, Red River’s engineering team expressed 

concerns that its wastewater storage facilities had come close to reaching 



R8 

 13 

capacity on numerous occasions. R. 5. The team suggested that Red River add 

additional capacity, but Wilson ignored his engineering team’s concerns and 

decided not to expand the wastewater storage facilities. R. 5.   

D. Public Statements 

Red River is required to apprise the public of environmental risks and 

events in annual and quarterly disclosure documents. R. 4. Wilson, angry 

about his company’s perception as a bad corporate citizen, believed these 

documents focused too much on mishaps, such as air pollution and toxic 

chemicals seeping into the groundwater. R. 5. In light of his belief, Wilson 

ensured that the March Annual Report and Form 10-K were revised to include 

a variety of statements emphasizing the company’s focus on environmental 

compliance and safe practices.1 R. 6.   

On May 15, 2018, Wilson continued his attempt to portray Red River as 

a good corporate citizen while at an Investor Conference.2 R. 7. Despite 

knowledge of the geologist reports and the engineering team’s concerns, Wilson 

asserted that there was about a “zero percent chance” of a major environmental 

event occurring on their property. R. 7. Further, none of the environmental 

concerns were mentioned in the company’s June 1, 10-Q statement.3 R. 7.  

E. The Environmental Disaster 

                                                 
1 See Appendix A, Statement Chart, Statements 1-6. Hereinafter, the 

statements will be referred to as their statement number in the chart. 
2 See Statements 6-7. 
3 See Statement 8. 
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On June 3, 2018, the Teacher Retirement System of Fordham (“TRSF”) 

purchased Red River shares for $27 Million. R. 8. Four days later, the Fordham 

Municipal Retirement Fund (“FMRF”) purchased Red River shares for $31 

million. R. 8. 

On June 10, a series of mid-level seismic shocks rocked Red River’s 

fracking cite. R. 8.  This destroyed the company’s toxic wastewater storage 

facility, causing missions of gallons of harmful wastewater to infiltrate West 

Texas groundwater and regional aquifers. R. 8. By the end of the day, Red 

River’s common stock price plummeted from $126 to $94.50, a loss of $31.50 

per share, because of this environmental disaster. R. 8. 

Federal and state environmental agency investigators later uncovered 

that Red River had been using an excessive amount of explosives to condition 

the shale rock prior to the injection process. R. 8. The investigators, including 

Thompson’s geologist, unanimously concluded that the fracking process was 

the proximate cause of the wastewater escape and that Red River’s wastewater 

storage tanks were filled beyond recommended capacity. R. 8.  

F. Procedural History 

On August 10, 2018, TRSF and FMRF brought this action under 

Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act, alleging that (1) Red 

River made materially misleading statements about the extent of their 

environmental protection measures and (2) Wilson, as CEO, had sufficient 

control to render him liable for these misstatements. R. 9. Upon filing, the 

District Court for the District of Fordham granted Red River and Wilson’s 
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12(b)(6) motion to dismiss both the Section 10(b) and 20(a) claims. R. 10. The 

Circuit Court properly reversed, holding that (1) the allegations were sufficient 

to plead that Red River’s statements were misleading and made with severe 

recklessness and (2) that Section 20(a) does not require an allegation of 

culpable participation in the primary violation. R. 19, 22, 25-26. 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 
 

Pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, a 

complaint does not need detailed allegations to survive a motion to dismiss. 

Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly, 50 U.S. 544, 555 (2007). Under the assumption 

that all allegations are true, the complaint need only have “enough facts to 

state a claim to relief that is plausible on its face.” Id. A district courts 

dismissal for failure to state a claim is reviewed by an appellate court de novo. 

Teigen v. Renfrow, 511 F.3d 1072, 1078 (2007). 

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

First, TRSF and FMRF properly asserted a securities fraud claim under 

Section 10(b) by adequately alleging material facts specifying that Red River 

made materially misleading statements with scienter. Red River’s statements 

were materially misleading because they induced shareholder reliance by 

omitting any mention of the numerous environmental concerns and warnings 

expressed to the company. Red River’s statements were made with scienter, a 

mental state of severe recklessness, because Red River knew of facts directly 

contradicting its statements at the time the statements were made. Thus, the 

Circuit Court correctly held that Petitioners’ motion to dismiss must fail.   
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Second, TRSF and FMRF successfully plead a prima facie case for control 

person liability under Section 20(a) by showing Wilson had control over Red 

River when the Section 10-b violation was committed. Pleading culpable 

participation is not required under the statute. This is consistent with a 

majority of Circuit Courts that have also rejected culpable participation as an 

element of Section 20(a). They have constantly held that a plaintiff satisfies a 

prima facie case by showing: (1) a primary violation and (2) that a defendant 

had control over the primary violator.  This approach is firmly supported by the 

statutory language, textual integrity, and remedial intent of Section 20(a). The 

minority courts that do recognize culpable participation as an element rely 

solely on questionable legislative history. Therefore, the Circuit Court correctly 

held that Petitioner’s motion to dismiss must fail. 

Accordingly, this Court should affirm the Judgment of the Circuit Court 

and deny Red River and James Wilson’s motion to dismiss. 

ARGUMENT 
 

I. TRSF AND FMRF ADEQUATELY PLED SUFFICIENT FACTS ALLEGING RED 

RIVER’S STATEMENTS WERE MATERIALLY MISLEADING AND MADE WITH 

SCIENTER. 
 

A plaintiff successfully pleads a claim for securities fraud under Section 

10(b) by alleging that the defendant (1) made material misrepresentations or 

omissions; (2) with scienter; (3) in connection with the purchase or sale of a 

security; (4) upon which the plaintiff relied; (5) causing economic loss as a 

result of the material misrepresentation. See Dura Pharms. v. Broudo, 544 U.S. 

336, 341-42 (2005). Here, this Court need only address the material 
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misrepresentation and scienter elements. Because Red River’s omissions and 

misstatements were not “so obviously unimportant” to its reasonable investors, 

the Teacher Retirement System of Fordham (“TRSF”) and the Fordham 

Municipal Retirement Fund (“FMRF”), the material misrepresentation element 

was adequately plead. Additionally, the scienter element was properly pled 

because Red River recklessly omitted known facts, ignoring the falsity of these 

statements. Thus, the Circuit Court decision should be affirmed and Red 

River’s motion to dismiss must fail. 

A. Red River’s statements were materially misleading. 

 

The Securities Exchange Act of 1934 was designed to protect against 

securities fraud and ensure the maintenance of fair and honest markets. See 

generally 15 U.S.C. § 78b (2012). In doing so, Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act 

makes it a crime “for any person . . . to use or employ, in connection with the 

purchase or sale of any security . . . any manipulative or deceptive device or 

contrivance in contravention of” the rules and regulations prescribed by the 

Securities and Exchange Commission (“S.E.C.”). 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b) (2012). 

Pertinently, S.E.C. Rule 10b-5 makes it unlawful for any person to directly or 

indirectly make “any untrue statement of a material fact or to omit to state a 

material fact necessary in order to make the statements made, in the light of 

the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.” 17 C.F.R. § 

240.10b-5 (2012). Therefore, statements that are misleading as to a material 

fact are criminal. See Matrixx Initiatives v. Siracusano, 563 U.S. 27, 38 (2011).  
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A fact stated or omitted is material if there is a substantial likelihood that 

a reasonable buyer or seller of a security would “(1) consider the fact important 

in deciding whether to buy or sell the security or (2) have viewed the total mix 

of information made available to be significantly altered by disclosure of the 

fact.” Longman v. Food Lion, Inc., 197 F.3d 675, 683 (4th Cir. 1999); see In re 

Massey Energy Co. Sec. Litig., 883 F. Supp. 2d 597, 613-14 (S.D. W. Va. 2012); 

see also Basic v. Levinson, 485 U.S. 224, 231-32 (2005). The inquiry does not 

focus on whether particular statements taken separately were literally true. See 

McMahan & Co. v. Wherehouse Entm’t, Inc., 900 F.2d 576, 579 (2d Cir. 1990); 

see also DeMaria v. Anderson, 318 F.3d 170, 180 (2d Cir. 2003). Instead, the 

proper inquiry requires an analysis of “whether defendants' representations, 

taken together and in context, would have misled a reasonable investor about 

the nature of the securities.” McMahan, 900 F.2d at 579; see DeMaria, 318 

F.3d at 180.  

When an offering participant makes a disclosure about a particular topic, 

“whether voluntary or required, the representation must be complete and 

accurate.” In re Morgan Stanley Info. Fund Sec. Litig., 592 F.3d 347, 366 (2d 

Cir. 2010). Ultimately, the court can only grant a motion to dismiss on the 

grounds that the alleged misrepresentations or omissions are immaterial “‘if 

they are so obviously unimportant to a reasonable investor that reasonable 

minds could not differ on the question of their unimportance.’” In re Ford Motor 

Co. Sec. Litig., Class Action, 381 F.3d 563, 570 (6th Cir. 2004) (emphasis 

added) (citation omitted).  
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 Here, the Petitioners contend that their statements are not materially 

misleading and thus inactionable under Section 10(b) as a matter of law. R. 13. 

We concede, in congruence with the Circuit Court decision, that statements 1 

and 6 are not materially misleading. However, the Petitioner’s contention that 

the claims relating to the remaining statements are inactionable is entirely 

without merit. Statements 2, 3, and 4 sufficiently allege shareholder deception 

and are not simply claims of corporate mismanagement. Additionally, 

statements 2, 4, 5, 7, and 8 are far from inactionable puffery because they 

could reasonably be interpreted as a guarantee of effective and responsive 

monitoring by Red River. As the Circuit Court correctly held, the Petitioner’s 

claim must fail. 

1. TRSF and FMRF allege that Red River’s statements were 

misleading, not simply that Red River was mismanaged. 
 

Section 10(b) prohibits allegations of mere corporate mismanagement; it 

does not prohibit allegations of conduct involving manipulation or deception. 

See Field v. Trump, 850 F.2d 938, 946 (2d Cir. 1988); see also Santa Fe Indus., 

Inc. v. Green, 430 U.S. 462, 477, 479-80 (1977) (finding corporate 

mismanagement where a complaint only focused on “shareholders [being] 

treated unfairly by a fiduciary.”). As a result, the fact that certain conduct 

could arguably constitute mismanagement does not preclude a claim “if the 

defendant made a statement of material fact wholly inconsistent with known 

existing mismanagement or failed to disclose a specific material fact resulting 

from that mismanagement.” Freudenberg v. E*Trade Fin. Corp., 712 F. Supp. 2d 

171, 193 (S.D.N.Y. 2010). Additionally, claims cannot be dismissed for 
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mismanagement if they allege that the defendant violated its obligation not to 

mislead. See In re MobileMedia Sec. Litig., 28 F. Supp. 2d 901, 927 (D.N.J. 

1998). Accordingly, when the “value of disclosure” does not depend solely on 

whether there has been corporate mismanagement, allegations of material 

omissions serve as a basis for liability. See Craftmatic Sec. Litig. v. Kraftsow, 

890 F.2d 628, 640 (3d Cir. 1989).  

Here, TRSF and FMRF allege that the Petitioners mislead and deceived 

the public in statements made from March 2, 2018, through August 2, 2018, 

not that Red River made bad business decisions or was mismanaged. R. 36.; 

see Freudenberg, 712 F. Supp. 2d at 193 (stating that allegations of deceptive 

conduct are actionable under federal securities law). Statements 2, 3, and 44 

stress Red River’s environmental commitment to “preventing or remediating” 

environmental damage and discuss the company’s practice of devoting a 

substantial budget and the latest technology to ensure environmental 

protection. R. 36. Curiously however, these statements fail to mention Red 

River’s use of excessive explosives to condition the shale rock for the injection 

                                                 
4 Statement 2, “There is no higher priority than ensuring that our drilling 
activity continues to be conducted in a manner consistent with preventing or 

remediating any damage resulting from an environmental occurrence.”  
Statement 3,  “We continue to conduct frequent environmental practices 

reviews to assure our commitment to environmental best practices and devote 
our most talented personnel and a substantial budget to ensure protection of 
the environment.”  

Statement 4, “Our commitment to the environment is demonstrated through 
our investment in and adoption of the latest technology in order to minimize 
water or soil contamination. This commitment differentiates us from our 

competitors.”  
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process and they entirely omit mention of the concerns had by Red River’s 

engineering team that suggested Red River increase its toxic wastewater 

storage capacity to avoid going over capacity. R. 5, 8. Disturbingly, these 

statements also seemingly disregard the reports of seismic activity Red River 

received on three separate occasions, as well as the potential environmental 

consequences associated with a failure to remedy the underlying problem. R. 

36. By omitting these facts, Petitioner’s statements violate the fundamental 

purpose of the Securities Exchange Act—“to implement a philosophy of full 

disclosure.” See Santa Fe Indus., 430 U.S. at 479-80. 

Furthermore, the alleged facts demonstrate that Red River was deceptive 

and mislead TRSF and FMRF by omitting information of potential 

environmental issues it had been made aware of, which in turn made its 

statements false. R. 5-8. TRSF and FMRF’s claims alleging deliberate 

misrepresentation can be clearly differentiated from inactionable “allegations of 

garden-variety mismanagement . . . .” Field, 850 F.2d at 948; see Suez Equity 

Investors, L.P. v. Toronto-Dominion Bank, 250 F.3d 87, 99 (2d Cir. 2001) 

(finding that unlike garden variety state law claims of breach of fiduciary duty, 

deliberate misrepresentations are actionable under federal securities law.”). 

Thus, because TRSF and FMRF allege that the Petitioner’s misleading 

statements and omissions caused their injury, the central thrust of their claim 

does not arise from inactionable corporate mismanagement. Cf. Panter v. 

Marshall Field & Co., 646 F.2d 271, 289 (7th Cir. 1981).   
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2. Red River’s statements were inherently misleading, pushing 
them past the level of mere puffery. 

 

The materiality of a statement depends on whether a reasonable 

shareholder would consider it important when deciding to act. See ECA, Local 

134 IBEW Joint Pension Trust of Chicago v. JP Morgan Chase Co., 553 F.3d 187, 

196 (2d Cir. 2009). Statements that are too general and vague to cause a 

reasonable investor to rely on them are considered inactionable and are 

categorized as mere “puffery.” See Bricklayers and Masons Local Union No. 5 

Ohio Pension Fund v. Transocean Ltd., 866 F. Supp. 2d 223, 244 (S.D.N.Y. 

2012). Quintessential examples of inactionable puffery include “general 

statements about reputation, integrity, and compliance with ethical norms.” 

Ong v. Chipotle, 294 F. Supp. 3d 199, 232 (S.D.N.Y. 2018). Yet not all general 

statements constitute puffery. Statements of general corporate optimism may 

be actionable securities violations if they are worded as a guarantee or if the 

speaker does not genuinely or reasonably believe the statements to be true. See 

IBEW Local Union No. 58 Pension Trust Fund and Annuity Fund v. Royal Bank of 

Scotland Group, PLC, 783 F. 3d 383, 393 (2d Cir. 2015). Additionally, an 

otherwise inactionable statement is actionable when the statement 

misrepresents existing facts by generally recognizing the company’s past 

achievements and current goals, or ties its commitments to past success. See 

In re Massey Energy Co., 883 F. Supp. 2d at 618. 

Courts “must exercise great caution” when “deeming a statement puffery 

at the motion to dismiss stage.” Bricklayers, 866 F. Supp. 2d at 244. “Great 
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caution” is required because determining the materiality of a statement is a 

“delicate, fact-intensive assessment that [is] more properly left to the jury.” Id. 

A motion to dismiss on the grounds that a statement is immaterial as a matter 

of law may not be granted unless the statement is “so obviously unimportant to 

a reasonable investor that reasonable minds could not differ on the question of 

their importance.” Id.; see Mulligan v. Impax Laboratories Inc., 36 F. Supp. 3d 

942, 967 (N.D. Cal. 2014).  

When determining whether a statement is actionable, the specificity of 

the challenged statement and the context in which it is made must be 

analyzed. See Mulligan, 36 F. Supp. 3d at 966. Thus, the statements made by 

Red River must be analyzed in light of the alleged facts that Red River ignored 

the environmental risks posed by reports of seismic activity, brushed off its 

wastewater storage capacity issues, and detonated excessive explosives during 

the fracking process. R. 5-8.  

As discussed earlier, statements 2 and 4 emphasize Red River’s 

commitment to environmental protection. R. 36. Unlike puffing statements of 

general corporate optimism that are characterized by “feel good monikers” such 

as “good” and “well-regarded,” these two statements are far more specific. 

Mulligan, 36 F. Supp. 3d at 966. Red River stated it had “no higher priority” 

than ensuring environmental protection and further boasted that it adopted 

the latest technology in order to protect to the environment. R. 36. Thus, these 

statements do more than just offer inactionable “rosy predictions” about Red 

River’s environmental commitment. See Novak v. Kasaks, 216 F.3d 300, 315 
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(2d Cir. 2000). By containing “factual representations at their core,” these 

statements generate investor reliance—pushing them far past the level 

inactionable puffery. In re Massey Energy Co., 883 F. Supp. 2d at 618 (stating 

that optimistic statements that are factual and material are actionable). 

Because the falsity of statements 2 and 4 could be determined based on the 

facts alleged, these statements were “plainly false and misleading” and 

therefore sufficient to form the basis of a Section 10(b) claim. See id.; see 

Novak, 216 F.3d at 315. 

Similarly, TRSF and FMRF pled sufficient facts to render statements 5 

and 85 actionable under 10(b). To be inactionable, the statements would have 

to be too general and vague to cause a reasonable investor to rely on them. See 

ECA, Local 134 IBEW Joint Pension Trust of Chicago, 553 F.3d at 196. This is 

not the case with regards to statements 5 and 8 as they directly discuss the 

risks associated with fracking. R. 36. Red River coaxed investor reliance by 

attempting to create the image that it was a good corporate citizen and an 

environmentally friendly company. R. 5. Yet in doing so, Red River mislead 

investors by deliberately omitting mention of the numerous reports of seismic 

activity received and thus failed to fulfill its duty to ensure that its statements 

were complete and accurate. See In re Morgan Stanley, 592 F.3d at 366.  

                                                 
5 Statement 5, “Fracking involves no serious environmental issues not 
associated with conventional drilling.”  

Statement 8, “Our operations could be subject to disruption by natural 
disasters beyond our control, including . . . severe storms, fires, earthquakes, 

civil unrest, and terrorist attacks.” 
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It is more than reasonable to believe that investors would find significant 

warnings disconcerting in an industry where consistency in production is 

essential. See Mulligan, 36 F. Supp. 3d at 966 (finding a pharmaceutical 

company’s statements “not so obviously unimportant” when they omitted any 

mention of significant warnings received from the FDA). In fact, even Red River 

knew that investors would be interested in this information as the company 

purposely decided not to release a “potentially market roiling disclosure.” R. 7. 

Seemingly, a reasonable investor would have viewed these omitted facts as 

significantly altering the total mix of information made available. See IBEW 

Local Union No. 58 Pension Trust Fund and Annuity Fund, 783 F. 3d at 390. 

 Finally, statement 7 cannot be considered too vague to be actionable.6 As 

expressed by the Circuit Court, Statement 7 is essentially a guarantee by 

Wilson “that Red River’s operations were monitored and conducted in a manner 

that ensured any non-negligible risk of environmental disaster would be 

detected and addressed.” R. 18. However, it is self-evident that Red River knew 

there was a non-zero chance of environmental disaster due to the numerous 

reports of seismic activity received. R. 7. In Brick Layers v. Transocean Ltd., 

similar company statements that omitted mention of company deficiencies were 

challenged. 866 F. Supp. 2d at 244 (plaintiffs alleging that the company 

mislead them by failing to disclose safety, training, and inspection deficiencies 

                                                 
6 Statement 7, “Candidly, I honestly believe a major environmental event has 

about a zero percent chance of occurring on our property. We just pay too 

much attention for that to happen.”  
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likely to give rise to environmental law costs and liabilities). There, the court 

found that the plaintiff’s allegations of material misrepresentations of 

Transocean’s deep-water drilling environmental safety programs were 

actionable and did not constitute mere puffery. Id. Here, similar to the 

dangerous deep-water drilling industry, “it is to be expected that investors 

[would] be greatly concerned” about a company’s safety efforts. Id. Thus, it 

cannot be said as a matter of law that statement 7 so obviously unimportant to 

shareholders to warrant dismissal. See Mulligan, 36 F. Supp. 3d at 966. 

B. TRSF and FMRF adequately pled scienter by alleging that Red River 

recklessly omitted known facts contradicting the accuracy of their 
statements. 

 

Pursuant to the heightened pleading requirements of the Private 

Securities Litigation Reform Act (“PSLRA”), a plaintiff alleging securities fraud 

must “specify each statement alleged to have been misleading, the reason or 

reasons why the statement is misleading,” and “state with particularity facts 

giving rise to a strong inference that the defendant acted with the required 

state of mind.” 15 U.S.C. § 78u–4(b)(1), (2); see ECA, Local 134 IBEW Joint 

Pension Trust of Chicago, 553 F.3d at 196. The required state of mind that 

must be plead “is an intent to deceive manipulate or defraud, or severe 

recklessness.” Lormand v. US Unwired, Inc., 565 F.3d 228, 251 (5th Cir. 2009). 

Severe recklessness is defined as “an extreme departure from the standard of 

ordinary care,” where the danger of misleading shareholders is “known to the 

defendant or so obvious that the defendant should have been aware of it.” 

Abrams v. Baker Hughes Inc., 292 F.3d 424, 430 (5th Cir. 2002). Recklessness 

https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=15USCAS78U-4&originatingDoc=Ic3b05691e7ea11ddb7e683ba170699a5&refType=RB&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Folder*cid.dc709da800c84501a2e6661d24a7958a*oc.Search)#co_pp_3fed000053a85
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is sufficiently pled when it is alleged that a defendant turned a “blind eye” to 

improper culpable conduct, refused to see the obvious, or ignored the falsity of 

their statements. In re Verifone Holdings, Inc., Sec. Litig., 704 F.3d 694, 702 

(9th Cir. 2012); Novak, 216 F.3d at 308.   

During the pleading stage, a plaintiff “must only plead facts rendering an 

inference of scienter at least as likely as any plausible opposing inference.” 

Lormand, 565 F.3d at 250. In determining whether an inference of scienter is 

at least as likely, the court must “accept all factual allegations as true,” and 

determine “whether all the facts alleged, taken collectively, give rise to a strong 

inference of scienter.” Tellabs, Inc. v. Makor Issues & Rights, Ltd., 551 U.S. 308, 

322-23 (2007). A strong inference of scienter is one that is cogent. Lormand, 

565 F.3d at 251. Ultimately, if there are equally strong inferences for and 

against scienter, the draw goes to the plaintiff and the complaint survives. ACA 

Fin. Guaranty Corp. v. Advest, Inc., 512 F.3d 46, 59 (1st Cir. 2008). 

The ultimate question is whether the speaker either knew his statements 

were false or was consciously reckless as to their truth or falsity. In re Verifone 

Holdings, 704 F.3d at 702. Here, we can answer that question affirmatively as 

Red River received multiple reports of potentially dangerous seismic activity, 

disregarded concerns about the wastewater storage capacity, and consistently 

set off excessive explosives during the fracking process. R. 5-8. Unlike other 

cases where claims of scienter have failed, the Petitioners here were aware of 

the facts undermining the validity of their statements at the time that they 

made their statements, and yet still chose to make misleading statements to 
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their investors. R. 5-8.; cf ACA Fin., 512 F.3d at 62 (finding allegations of 

securities fraud insufficient when nothing in the complaint established that 

“the defendants were aware of facts, at the time they made their predictions, 

that would have made those predictions unreasonable.”); Abrams, 292 F.3d at 

432 (holding that plaintiffs did not meet pleading standard because they point 

to no allegations that the defendants knew about the internal problems that 

ultimately made their statements false).  

In particular, Red River’s concern that disclosure would damage its stock 

price explicitly demonstrates that it chose not to disclose known information to 

prevent financial loss. R. 7. Such an action constitutes recklessness. See 

Novak, 216 F.3d at 311-12 (finding that plaintiff pled sufficient facts 

supporting scienter when it was alleged that company management chose not 

to disclose inventory information in an effort to prevent financial damage). As is 

the case here, claims of recklessness are sufficient when the claim “specifically 

allege[s] defendant’s knowledge of the facts or access to information 

contradicting their public statements.” Id. at 308. Thus, TRSF and FMRF 

adequately plead scienter by alleging that Red River made its statements with 

severe recklessness by disregarding the falsity of their statements and the risk 

that such statements would mislead shareholders.  

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY HELD THAT TRSF AND FMRF 

SUCCESSFULLY PLED A CLAIM FOR CONTROL PERSON LIABILITY BECAUSE 

CULPABLE PARTICIPATION IS NOT AN ELEMENT OF 11 U.S.C. § 78T(A).  
 

Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act attaches secondary liability on a 

controlling defendant unless the defendant “acted in good faith and did not 
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directly or indirectly induce the act or acts constituting the violation or cause of 

action.” 15 U.S.C. § 78t(a) (2012). The undisputed elements of a prima facie 

case for Section 20(a) require plaintiff to show: (1) a primary violation and (2) 

that defendant had control over the primary violator. See Lustgraaf v. Behrens, 

619 F.3d 867, 873-74 (8th Cir. 2010); ATSI Comm., Inc. v. Shaar Fund, Ltd., 

493 F.2d 87, 108 (2d Cir. 2007). The Teacher Retirement System of Fordham 

(“TRSF”) and the Fordham Municipal Retirement Fund (“FMRF”) adhered to the 

statutory elements of Section 20(a) that have been recognized by a long line of 

precedent and successfully pled a prima facie case for control person liability. 

Petitioner James Wilson is now asking this Court to improperly rewrite the 

statute to insert a third element requiring TRSF and FMRF to allege Petitioner 

was also culpable participant.  

A majority of Circuit Courts expressly reject culpable participation as an 

element of Section 20(a). See Lustgraaf, 619 F.3d 873-74; Maher v. Durango 

Metals, Inc., 144 F.3d 1302, 1305 (10th Cir. 1998); Harrison v. Dean Witter 

Reynolds, Inc., 974 F.2d 873, 881 (7th Cir. 1992); Hollinger v. Titan Capital 

Corp., 914 F.2d 1564, 1575 (9th Cir. 1990); G.A. Thompson & Co., Inc. v. 

Partridge, 636 F.2d 945, 958 (5th Cir. 1981). The overwhelming repudiation for 

the culpable participation requirement is firmly supported by the plain 

language, textual integrity, and legislative intent of the statute. See Hollinger, 

914 F.2d at 1575. Relying only on ambiguous legislative history, the Second 

and Third Circuits have sidestepped the text of Section 20(a) entirely to create 

a new element requiring plaintiffs to also allege that a defendant was a 
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culpable participant in the primary violation. See Lanza v. Drexel & Co., 479 

F.2d 1277, 1279 (2d Cir. 1973); Rochez Bros., Inc. v. Rhoades, 527 F.3d 880, 

891 (3d Cir. 1975).  

Here, the Circuit Court correctly held that TRSF and FMRF were not 

required to plead culpable participation in a prima facie case for Section 20(a). 

R. 24. The issue was a matter of first impression for the Circuit Court, but the 

tools of statutory construction relied upon to reject culpable participation have 

long been recognized by this Court. See Landreth Timber Co. v. Landreth, 471 

U.S. 681, 85 (1985); United Sav. Ass’n. of Tex. v. Timbers of Inwood Forest 

Ass’n, 484 U.S. 365, 371 (1988). Petitioner now asks this Court to engage in 

judicial law making and diverge from the sound reasoning the Circuit Court 

relied upon in rejecting culpable participation. This Court must decline. 

A. The plain and unambiguous language of Section 20(a) only required 
TRSF and FMRF to plead Wilson’s control over a primary violator. 

 

Statutory interpretation is founded upon the bedrock principle that all 

matters of statutory construction begin with the language of the statute itself. 

Blue Chip Stamps v. Manor Drug Stores, 421 U.S. 723, 756 (1975) (Powell, J., 

concurring); Landreth, 471 U.S. at 685. When the language is clear and 

unambiguous, the court’s inquiry ends. See Robinson v. Shell Oil Co., 519 U.S. 

337, 340 (1997). The text of Section 20(a) is the starting point for this analysis. 

The language of Section 20(a) is clear upon its face: a plaintiff is required 

to allege a primary violation by a controlling defendant. In re Parmalat Sec. 

Litig., 375 F. Supp. 2d. 278, 308 (S.D.N.Y. 2005). The text of Section 20(a) 
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attaches liability on a controlling person “unless [he] acted in good faith and 

did not directly or indirectly induce the act or acts constituting the violation or 

cause of action.” 15 U.S.C. 78t(a). Liability is therefore premised “solely on [the] 

control relationship” and does not require plaintiffs to plead that defendant 

acted with any scienter. Hollinger, 914 F.2d at 1575. The statute is void of any 

mention of culpable participation. See § 78t(a). 

Culpable participation wrongfully attempts to impose a scienter element 

on the plaintiff because an unambiguous reading of Section 20(a) reveals that 

the defendant bears the burden of proving the only scienter element, the good 

faith defense. Hollinger, 914 F.2d at 1575; In re Stone & Webster, Inc., Sec. 

Litig., 414 F.3d 187, n. 6 (1st Cir. 2005) (noting that culpable participation 

implies a culpable state of mind). Once plaintiffs successfully plead a prima 

facie case, the burden shifts to the defendant to show the good faith exception. 

See Hollinger, 914 F.2d at 1575; Maher, 144 F.3d at 1305. This burden shifting 

analysis follows Supreme Court jurisprudence that “[w]hen a proviso … carves 

an exception out of the body of a statute or contract, those who set up such 

exception must prove it.” Javierre v. Cent. Altagracia, 217 U.S. 502, 508 (1910) 

(citations omitted). Pursuant to this Court’s precedent, the language of Section 

20(a) places the burden of proving a good faith defense on the defendant and 

does not require the plaintiff to plead a scienter element. Id.  

Following Supreme Court jurisprudence, the Circuit Court began its 

analysis with the text of Section 20(a), noting that nowhere in the statute does 

culpable participation appear. R. 25; Landreth, 471 U.S. at 85. Indeed, our 
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sister circuits have also rejected culpable participation on the basis that the 

plain text of the statute does not recognize culpable participation as an 

element. See Metge v. Baehler, 762 F.2d 621, 631 (8th Cir. 1985) (“The plain 

meaning of both texts does not require participation in the wrongful 

transaction.”) (citing G.A. Thompson, 636 F.2d at 957-58). Significantly, this is 

because the term culpable participation only appeared for the first time around 

half a century after Section 20(a) was enacted. See Lanza, 479 F.2d at 1279.  

Absent any ambiguity in the statute, the Circuit Court correctly 

concluded that the “clearest reading of the statute” attaches liability solely on a 

demonstration of control and places the burden of proof on the defendant to 

show good faith. R. 25. This is consistent with majority circuits and Supreme 

Court precedent that informs us that the only scienter element, the good faith 

exception, is petitioners burden to prove. See Javierre, 217 U.S. at 508; 

Hollinger, 914 F.2d at 1575. Imposing a scienter element on TRSF and FMRF, 

as culpable participation would, is contrary to the language of Section 20(a). 

The Second and Third Circuit Courts degrade this Court’s precedent by 

ignoring the language of Section 20(a) and rely solely on legislative history to 

justify culpable participation. See Lanza, 479 F.2d at 1279; Belmont v. MB Inv. 

Partners, Inc., 708 F.3d 470, 484 (3d Cir. 2013). The Third Circuit explicitly 

stated “in addition to the statutory elements of controlling person liability, we 

have also held that . . . the defendant ‘must have been a “culpable participant”. 

. . .’” Belmont, 708 F. 3d 485-86 (quoting S.E.C. v. J.W. Barclay & Co., 442 F.3d 

834, n. 8 (3d Cir. 2006)). When doing so, Belmont expressly recognized that 
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culpable participation is not “a statutory element” of Section 20(a) but a 

product of judicial lawmaking. Id. The function of a court is to not enforce 

terms created by a Circuit Court—it is to enforce the statute according to the 

terms Congress provided. Caminetti v. United States, 242 U.S. 470, 485 (1917).  

B. The Circuit Court rightfully preserved the textual integrity and 

remedial intent of Section 20(a) by rejecting culpable participation.  
 

The court must look at the statute as a whole, engaging in a holistic 

endeavor, when conducting inquires of statutory interpretation. See United 

Sav. Ass’n. of Tex., 484 U.S. at 371. To preserve a statues textual integrity, 

Supreme Court precedent steers clear of interpretations that render part of the 

provision meaningless or produce inconsistent interpretations. See Nat’l Ass’n 

of Mfrs. v. Dep’t of Defense, 138 S.Ct 617, 632 (2018); NorthCross v. Bd. of Ed. 

Of Memphis City Schs., 412 U.S. 427, 428 (1973). Rather, statutory 

interpretations must be consistent with the purpose of the statute. See Herman 

& MacLean v. Huddleston, 495 U.S. 375, 386-87 (1983). Culpable participation 

violates these statutory canons.  

1. Culpable participation would invalidate the affirmative defense.  
 

A cardinal rule of statutory interpretation instructs courts to reject 

interpretations that render the words of a statute meaningless. Wash. Market 

Co. v. Hoffman, 101 U.S. 112, 115 (1879); Nat’l Ass’n of Mfrs., 138 S.Ct at 632. 

Instead, the court is “obligated to give effect, if possible, to every word Congress 

used.” Reiter v. Sonotone Corp., 442 U.S. 330, 339 (1949). Here, culpable 

participation renders the affirmative defense meaningless.  
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By recognizing culpable participation as an element of plaintiff’s prima 

facie case and the good faith defense, the minority circuits produce an “illogical 

result” that renders the affirmative defense meaningless. In re Parmalat Sec. 

Litig., 375 F. Supp. 2d at 308; Rochez Bros., 527 F.2d at 885. Using 

commonsense rationale, the court in In re Parmalatc Sec. Litig. explained that if 

a plaintiff was required to prove culpable participation, then rationally, the 

defendant “[could not] conceivably prove good faith or lack of inducement.” Id. 

at n. 200. Therefore, once a plaintiff alleges culpable participation, the 

defendant loses their ability to raise a good faith defense. The Eight Circuit 

further cautioned that a culpable participation requirement would only 

“confuse the parties’ responsibilities . . . .” Metge, 762 F.2d at 631. 

The Circuit Court correctly determined that requiring TRSF and FMRF to 

allege culpable participation would “render the good faith clause of the statute 

meaningless.” R. 25. If TRSF and FMRF pled that Petitioner acted with a 

culpable mindset in furthering the 10-b violation, Petitioner would be unable to 

then attest to his good faith, rending the affirmative defense ipso facto 

inoperative. This is an extreme departure from “giv[ing] effect . . . to every word 

Congress used.” Reiter, 442 U.S. at 339. Because this Court rejects 

interpretations that nullify the express words of Congress set forth in a statute, 

the Circuit Court’s decision must be affirmed. See Nat’l Ass’n of Mfrs., 138 

S.Ct. at 632.  

2. Culpable participation is antithetical to Section 20(a)’s remedial 
intent.   

 



R8 

 35 

A statute must be interpreted in a manner that is consistent with 

Congress’s purpose for enacting the statute. MacLean, 495 U.S. at 386-87. The 

Supreme Court has consistently explained that the Securities Exchange Act of 

1934 is a remedial statute that must be interpreted broadly to effectuate 

Congress’s purpose of combating securities fraud. Id.; S.E.C. v. Capital Gains 

Research Bureau, Inc., 375 U.S. 180, 195 (1963). The specific purpose of 

Section 20(a) is to create a mechanism for secondary liability that prevents 

people from evading liability by using third parties to engage in acts otherwise 

prohibited by securities law on their behalf. Laperriere v. Vesta Ins. Grp., Inc., 

526 F.3d 715, 721 (11th Cir. 2008) (citing H.R. REP. NO. 73–152, at 12 (1933)). 

By enacting Section 20(a), Congress thus intended to “expand, rather than 

restrict, the scope of liability under the securities law.” S.E.C. v. Mgmt. 

Dynamics, Inc., 515 F.2d 801, 812 (2d Cir. 1975). 

In Metge, the Eight Circuit rejected culpable participation as an element 

because it is violative of Section 20(a)’s remedial intent. 762 F.2d at 630-31. 

Metge explained that Section 20(a)’s broad remedial intent required plaintiffs to 

only show “‘some indirect means of discipline or influence short of actual 

direction to hold a “controlling person” liable[,]’” whereas culpable participation 

required a showing of actual participation in the fraud. Id. (quoting Myzel v. 

Fields, 386 F.2d 718, 738 (8th Cir. 1967)). Thus, the Eight Circuit concluded 

that requiring plaintiffs to plead culpable participant was far more stringent 

than the statute demanded and was inconsistent with its remedial intent. Id.  
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In fact, in rejecting the culpable participant requirement, the Seventh 

Circuit went so far as to conclude that it has never “used any similar test to so 

stingily limit the definition of control person.” Harrison, 974 F.2d at 880. The 

Eighth Circuit similarly concluded that requiring culpable participation 

“unnecessarily burdens plaintiffs contrary to the plain meaning of the statute.” 

Metge, 762 F.2d at 631. Broad construction of Section 20(a) is supported by 

the fact that Congress specifically refused to define a controlled person, 

ensuring the statute was not unduly limited. H.R. REP. NO. 85, 73d Cong., 1st 

Sess. 14 (1933) (declining to define a controlled person). 

Requiring TRSF and FMRF to allege culpable participation would be 

violative Section 20(a)’s remedial intent because the very purpose of the statute 

is to prevent defendants like Wilson from escaping liability by hiding behind a 

corporate entity. See id.; 78 Cong. Rec. 8094 (1934) (“The object of this 

provision is to catch the man who stands behind the scenes . . . .”). This Court, 

when considering the remedial intent of this Act, has explicitly rejected 

restrictive interpretations that displace an action. See MacLean, 495 U.S. at 

387. Here, culpable participation would severally limit the scope of liability in 

direct contravention of Congress’s intent, while displacing countless claims 

under Section 20(a). Mgmt. Dynamics, Inc., 515 F.2d at 812. The Circuit Court 

correctly effectuated Congress’s purpose by refusing to impose a stringent 

interpretation that would allow Wilson, and countless others, to avoid liability.  

3. The lack of support for the culpable participation element is 
demonstrated by the minority court’s inconsistent 
interpretations of parallel provisions. 
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Statutes with similar language that are enacted for the same purpose 

should be interpreted the same. See NorthCross, 412 U.S. at 428. Here, 

minority and majority circuits agree that Section 20(a) of the Securities 

Exchange Act of 1934 and Section 15 of the Securities Act of 1933, are parallel 

provisions subject to the same analysis because both impose secondary 

liability on controlling individuals and have strikingly similar language. 15 

U.S.C. § 77o(a); see In re Lehman Bros. Mortgage-Backed Sec. Litig., 650 F.3d 

167, 186 (2d Cir. 2011); Hollinger, 914 F.2d at 1578. Perplexingly, courts that 

recognize Section 20(a) and Section 15 as parallel provisions only find culpable 

participation to be an element of Section 20(a). See In re Refco, Inc. Sec. Litig., 

503 F. Supp. 2d 611, 660 (S.D.N.Y. 2004); In re CINAR Corp. Sec. Litig., 186 F. 

Supp. 2d 279, 309-10 (E.D.N.Y. 2002). In the Second Circuit specifically, the 

courts agree that these provisions are “substantially identical” and “interpreted 

in the same manner” yet find that culpable participation is not element of 

Section 15. In re Refco, Inc., 503 F. Supp. 2d at n. 43 (citation omitted).    

The lack of textual support and sound reasoning in requiring TRSF and 

FMRF to plead culpable participation is made evident by the fact that when 

presented with an identical statute to Section 20(a), even those courts in 

minority circuits reject culpable participation. See id. By deviating from 

statutory language, courts recognizing culpable participation have created 

inconsistent interpretations of identical statutes. Id. This is precisely what this 

Court demands we avoid. See NorthCross, 412 U.S. at 428.  
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C. Courts that recognize culpable participation disregard the language 
of Section 20(a) and impermissibly rely on legislative history.  

 

A statute’s legislative history should only be examined when the statute’s 

language is ambiguous. See Milner v. Dep’t of Navy, 562 U.S. 562, 572 (2011); 

Nat’l Ass’n of Mfrs., 138 S.Ct. at 631 (“When the plain language of a statute is 

unambiguous, the Supreme Court’s inquiry beings with the statutory text, and 

ends there as well.”). Supreme Court precedent provides that legislative history 

is unnecessary when the statute is unambiguous, nor should it be used to 

“muddy clear statutory language.” Ratzlaf v. United States, 510 U.S. 135, 147-

48 (1994). Contrarily, the Second and Third Circuits rely strictly on legislative 

history to justify culpable participation. See Lanza, 479 F.2d at 1294-99; 

Rochez Bros., 527 F.2d at 889-90.  

The minority’s culpable participation requirement is supported solely by 

a misconstrued version of legislative history. See Lanza, 479 F.2d at 1294-99; 

Rochez Bros., 527 F.2d at 884-90; Gordon v. Burr, 506 F.2d 1080, 1085 (2d Cir. 

1974). In the seminal case for culpable participation, Lanza examined the 

legislative history of the Securities Act of 1933, concluding that Congress’s 

intent in enacting Section 20(a) was “obviously to impose liability only on those 

directors . . . who are in some meaningful sense culpable participants in the 

fraud . . . .” Id. at 1299. Attempting to provide further explanation, the Third 

Circuit later pointed to the legislative history, showing how the House’s 

“fiduciary care” standard was chosen over the Senate’s “insurers liability” 

standard. Rochez Bros., 491 F.2d at 884-86. This apparently indicated that 
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Congress intended to avoid vicarious liability and only impose liability upon 

controlling individuals who were “culpable participants.” Id. (quoting Lanza, 

479 F.2d at 1299). This reasoning is flawed for two reasons.  

 First, the minority’s reliance on legislative history is inherently flawed 

because it skips over the first step in all statutory interpretation issues, which 

is to examine the text itself. See Landreth, 471 U.S. at 685. As the late Justice 

Scalia stated in Conroy, “[w]e are governed by laws, not by the intentions of 

legislators.” Conroy v. Aniskoff, 507 U.S. 511, 519 (1993). This Court’s duty is 

to interpret the language of Section 20(a), not to follow Lanza and its progeny 

by replacing the language with “unenacted legislative intent.” I.N.S. v. Cardozo-

Fonseca, 480 U.S. 421, 453 (1987) (Scalia, J., concurring). 

Second, the Ninth Circuit sitting en banc explained why the minority’s 

specific interpretation of legislative history lacked merit. Hollinger, 914 F.2d at 

1575. Despite the minorities’ concerns, courts that reject culpable participation 

do not claim that all controlling persons are vicariously liable under Section 

20(a). Id. Contrarily, a control person liability claim fails if a controlling 

defendant demonstrates that she acted in good faith and did not directly or 

indirectly induce the violations. Id.; Harrison, 974 F.2d at 881. Hollinger 

explains that by creating the good faith affirmative defense, Congress avoided 

imposing vicarious liability. 914 F.2d at 1575. By glossing over the language of 

the statute, Lanza and its progeny disregard the fact that Congress already 

safeguarded against vicarious liability when it created the affirmative defense. 

Id. Culpable participation is a judicially created solution to a nonissue.  
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D. TRSF and FMRF’s claim prevails even if this Court opens the 
floodgates and recognizes the undefined third element, culpable 

participation.  
 

 Petitioner is asking this Court to recognize a judicially created element 

for which there is no definitive standard. While the Second and Third Circuits 

allege that a defendant must be a “‘culpable participant[] in the fraud 

perpetrated by controlled persons[,]’” there is little agreement on what this 

actually means. See Rochez Bros., 527 F.2d at 885 (quoting Lanza, 479 F.2d at 

1299). Even if this Court were to decipher the various interpretations of 

culpable participation, it is clear that Wilson was undoubtedly a culpable 

participant in the Section 10-b violation.  

The Third Circuit has broadly argued that culpable participation is 

shown when the defendant is an active participant in the fraud or had 

knowledge of the fraud. See Belmont, 708 F. 3d at 485; Rochez Bros., 527 F.2d 

at 890. In comparison, the Second Circuit has never defined culpable 

participation, leading the district courts to have divergent interpretations. In re 

Initial Pub. Offering Sec. Litig., 241 F. Supp. 2d, 281, 393 (S.D.N.Y. 2004). 

These views range from district courts rejecting culpable participation as an 

element of Section 20(a) all together, to others recognizing culpable 

participation as an element equating to recklessness. Compare id. with In re 

CINAR Corp. Sec. Litig., 186 F. Supp. 2d at 310. Those following the 

recklessness approach find culpable participation to be present when “the 

controlling person knew or should have known that the primary violator, over 

whom that person had control, was engaging in fraudulent conduct.” Special 
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Situations Full III GP, L.P. v. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu CPA, Ltd., 33 F. Supp. 3d 

401, 439 (S.D.N.Y. 2014) (citation omitted).  

Recognizing culpable participation would open up floodgates to endless 

interpretations that even the minority circuits cannot agree on.  If this court 

chose to do so, however, TRSF and FMF’s claim would still prevail because 

Petitioner was a culpable participant who had knowledge of, and played in 

active role in, the fraudulent activity. See Belmont, 708 F.3d at 485. Petitioner 

pressured Thompson and Grimes to create a more positive tone in public 

statements and the disclosure documents despite having knowledge of growing 

concerns. R. 5. He recklessly disregarded both the concerns of his engineering 

team who alerted him to wastewater storage capacity issues and the numerous 

geologist reports of seismic activity. R. 5-6. Wilson’s “distaste for compliance 

requirements” did not just make him a culpable participant, but the driving 

force behind this fraudulent activity. R. 4. Therefore, Petitioner’s motion to 

dismiss inevitably fails.  

CONCLUSION 

TRSF and FMRF successfully pled a claim under both Section 10-b and 

Section 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Accordingly, we 

respectfully ask this Court to deny Petitioner’s appeal and affirm the Circuit 

Court’s decision, reinstating both claims. 

Respectfully Submitted, 

/s/ Team # R8 

Counsel for the Respondents 
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APPENDIX A 
 

 

Statement 
Number 

 

Alleged 

Statement 
Maker & 

Source 

 
Alleged Statement 

 
Statement 

Type 

 

1 

 

March 1, 

2018 

10-K 
 

 

“Our commitment to the environment is unwavering 

and constant.” 

 

Commitment 

 

2 

 

March 1, 

2018 

10-K 

 

“There is no higher priority than ensuring that our 

drilling activity continues to be conducted in a 

manner consistent with prevailing or remediating 

any damage resulting from an environmental 

occurrence.” 

 

 

Commitment 

 

3 

 

March 1, 

2018 

10-K 

 

“We continue to conduct frequent environmental 
practices reviews to assure our commitment to 

environmental best practices and devote our most 

talented personnel and a substantial budget to 

ensure protection of the environment.” 

 

 

Practices 

 

4 

 
March 1, 

2018 

10-K 

 

“Our commitment to the environment is 
demonstrated through our investment in and 

adoption of the latest technology in order to 

minimize water or soul contamination. This 

commitment differentiates us from our 

competitors.” 

 

Practices 

 
5 

 

March 1, 
2018 

10-K 

 

“Fracking involves no serious environmental issues 
not associated with conventional drilling.” 

 

 
Risk 

 

 
6 

 

Wilson, 

May 15, 

2018 
Investor 

Conference 

 

 

“I think we have the tightest environmental 
practices in the West Texas oil patch.” 

 

Wilson 

 
 

7 

 

Wilson, 

May 15, 
2018 

Investor 

Conference 

 

 

“Candidly, I honestly believe a major environmental 
event has about a zero percent change of occurring 

on our property. We just pay too much attention for 

that to happen.” 

 
Wilson 

 
8 

 

June 1, 
2018 

10-Q 

 

 

“Our operations could be subject to disruption by 

natural disasters beyond our control, including . . . 
severe storms, fires, earthquakes, civil unrest, and 

terrorist attacks.” 

 

 
Risk 

 


